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To Olivia, Doone and Kinvara, for always being there.

 



And to Ewan - thanks for everything.
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The Juice
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ON 13 MAY 2009, I felt the wheels of our plane touch the tarmac at Sydney airport. We’d arrived. I felt a rush of exhilaration and relief. All the months of planning and dreaming had come together at last. But my excitement didn’t quite hide the nerves that had been building since long before we set off from London twenty-four hours earlier. I settled back in my seat and tried to relax. Best not to think about all the challenges that lay ahead. My mind drifted back to my last visit to Sydney - and the end of my previous adventure . . .

Just ten months earlier I’d ridden through the Sydney Harbour Tunnel at the end of another mammoth journey. Starting from my dad’s house in County Wicklow, I had crossed Eastern Europe before travelling the length of Iran using any means of transport I could find. I’d been through India, Nepal and China. I’d island-hopped across Indonesia before enduring a dramatic sea voyage from Timor to Darwin on a boat made from Kalimantan ironwood. When we at last stepped ashore, I remember kissing the harbour wall in gratitude.

But that had only been half the journey. I’d always dreamed of pushing on even further - right on through Australia with Japan our final destination. And now that dream was coming true at last. We would begin by heading up the east coast of Australia to Brisbane before continuing north to Cairns. From there it was on to Papua New Guinea, where there had been reports of recent trouble. That was as far ahead as I wanted to think right now.

 



 



The week before I left, just as I started thinking about saying goodbye to my wife Olly and the kids, I began to realise that, despite all my travels, I had learned almost nothing about the business of leaving. Since 2004 I’d ridden a motorbike from London to New York via Russia; I’d raced the Dakar Rally and ridden from John O’Groats to Cape Town. Then last year I’d  taken advantage of just about every type of vehicle you could think of during the trip from Ireland to Sydney. But as usual, the week of departure dawned and nothing was ready.

The preparation for this expedition had been fraught with difficulties, not least the onset of a global recession. We had a sort of budget and I had a rucksack that was sort of packed and that was about it. And there was an added pressure on me this time round, or at least I felt there was. On previous trips I had always had either my friend Ewan McGregor or our producer, Russ Malkin, at my side. But Ewan was very busy with his film work, and this time Russ was needed back in London to coordinate the TV series. It’s true that producer Sam Simons and cameraman Robin Shek were flying out with me. And Claudio von Planta - who had joined Ewan and me on our Long Way . . . trips, and filmed my Dakar challenge - would be meeting up with us shortly, which I was really pleased about. But there was no getting away from the fact that on this trip, more than any other, the buck stopped with me. If anything went wrong, it would be down to me to sort it out. And while that was exciting in some ways, it was also bloody terrifying . . . I’d spoken to my dad, John, about my worries the last time I saw him. His sister, my aunt Wendy, died recently and my sisters and I went down to the funeral in Cornwall. Dad and I had a bit of time together and I voiced my fears about undertaking this project on my own. Dad pointed out that he was about to begin another massive project himself, and after all his years in the film business he was still suffering from the same kind of nerves.

I knew I was lucky to have Sam and Robin on board. Sam is a really passionate producer/director with a fantastic background in high-quality documentaries, and Robin had worked tirelessly on  Long Way Down, Race to Dakar and By Any Means. And as for Claudio - he was, of course, the unsung hero of the two Long Way . . . trips, matching his expertise with the camera with an excellent general knowledge of the countries we were travelling through. He has a serious mind, old Claudio, and given my  somewhat justified reputation for talking bullshit, you could say he’s the ideal foil. It was good to have him back on board.

I’d started the trip envying Claudio, who was flying out after  the rest of us and therefore missed seeing his equipment being swabbed for explosives at Heathrow and testing positive. I couldn’t believe it - every item had to be taken out and searched and then we had to go through the incredibly laborious task of putting it all back again. At least they let us fly - to my endless embarrassment I’d been kicked off an aeroplane at the start of  Long Way Down. I’d never have lived down a repeat performance.

I soon stopped envying Claudio when I saw him arrive, bleary-eyed, at the hotel a couple of days later. He told me he’d hardly slept on the journey at all and there was no time to recover - it was hit the ground running. To my delight we were doing the first leg of the journey on bikes, and Claudio would spend the first day filming from the back of a BMW.


By Any Means had been a fantastic expedition: 112 forms of transport covering 25 countries in 102 days. As far as I was concerned, the only downside was that I’d have liked more motorbikes. This time I would still be taking different forms of transport, but it wasn’t the means of travel that was important so much as the people I was hoping to meet along the way.

 



 



Suddenly it was all go and the fear really started to kick in. I had an attack of the colly-wobbles, the butterflies I always seem to suffer from as we’re about to set out. It never seems to get any easier. I have the same dreams, the same worries. Will people welcome us? Will anything go wrong? Will I be able to fix it if it does? Originally we were just going to slip quietly north on a couple of motorbikes, but we kept getting hits on the website from bikers suggesting a convoy. I have a love/hate relationship with convoys - I love the feeling of everyone riding together, but I always worry that no one will show up. Every time I do it, I pray that there will be at least a few motorbikes to meet us. So far it’s worked out well, and fortunately this time we’d had some air time on Australia’s morning TV show, Today, so I was able to let people know I would be leaving from the Freshwater Reserve in Manly.

I would be riding a customised flat tracker built by Deus Ex Machina, a motorcycle outlet on Parramatta Road and just about  the coolest place imaginable. It truly is one of a kind, a large showroom with a workshop where they specialise in taking Kawasaki W650s and turning them into street trackers - an homage to the racing bikes they used back in the 1950s and 1960s. The company is run by Dare Jennings, a tall, extremely laid-back man with an easy smile and very dry sense of humour. Dare is a mad-keen biker and ex ‘big-wave rider’.

Dare’s place is different from any bike shop I’ve been in. There are so many amazing machines, and not just Deus creations, but ancient Harleys, an original Indian, a fully restored Indian . . . the imagination his team has put into the place is visible. Everyone is really into what they do and they produce some seriously impressive bikes. The one they had for me was a Kawasaki based on an old BSA. The Japanese designer was an ardent fan of British bikes and had bought the patent and copied the style - the W650 could have been a badged BSA complete with jam-pot cylinder heads, the works. One of the mechanics explained to me that the Deus principle is to simplify the bike Kawasaki put out - they take the weight off and stand the back end up a bit so that the bike turns nicely into the corners. They work on the suspension - the exhaust is invariably a burbling two-into-one - and the tail had been cut down and flared to give it a sort of ‘bobber’ look. Mine had a red and pale blue paint job and the seat was fibreglass, padded and covered with studded leather. After being stuck on a plane for twenty-four hours and with the heebie-jeebies gnawing, I just wanted to throw my leg over and go for a blat.

Dare is a really nice guy; I noticed that when he’s socialising he’s extremely good at including everyone, which is an endearing quality. He used to run a surf business called Mambo but sold that in the 1990s. One wall in the Deus showroom is devoted to a massive black-and-white photo of a guy on a motorbike with a side rack designed to carry a surfboard. Dare told us that a couple of years ago they built some bikes for a bunch of guys who wanted to cruise the coast with their boards without the hassle of a van. That was the perfect kind of challenge and something about the romance of bikes and boards caught the public’s imagination.

The literal translation of Deus Ex Machina is ‘God from the machine’. In books and movies it’s a plot device where something  is introduced into the story to help a character overcome what otherwise would be an insoluble problem. That’s Dare all over: his life is about the fun of making the difficult doable, and a bike racked for a surfboard sums it up. His great hero is the Australian bike racer Herbie Jefferson, who was not only a racer but a big-wave rider. ‘It’s all the same juice,’ Herbie would say.

 



 



On the morning of 18 May we all woke up early, praying that a decent crowd of people would be there to see us off. At least this time I knew there would definitely be a few of us riding out together. We’d met Terry, Chris, Steve and Jack last year on By Any Means in a tiny town called Daly Waters. Old school mates who were now retired, they had been on a mammoth road trip and had talked fondly about a fifth member of their gang who should have been with them. His name was also Chris and he was suffering from leukaemia. At the time we met the guys, Chris was home in Canberra waiting for a bone-marrow transplant and I had spoken to him on the phone. Since then he had had the treatment and today I would finally get to meet him.

So that was five at least. Then there was my mate Wayne Gardner, the ex-racer who won the World 500 cc Championship on a Honda back in 1987. Wayne is a legend, an awesome rider from the days of two-strokes: no traction control and no engine braking. During his championship year he clocked up seven race wins. In 1982 he’d been TT world champion and in 1985 and 1986 he won the Suzuka 8 Hour. That made six, then; in addition to myself and Claudio. It would be fine.

But I still woke up feeling nervous as hell. We met downstairs and jumped in a taxi to take us back to Parramatta Road. Sitting beside me, Claudio was looking both pale and weary.

‘Clouds,’ I said. ‘This is the fifth project I’ve done in six years, you know that?’

He gave me a sort of sidelong glance, as he often does. ‘So what went wrong that you got me on board again?’

‘No one else wanted to do it.’

I was really glad he was with us. Knackered or not, you can rely on Claudio absolutely. He has an instinct for the shot, the  camera is like an extension of his psyche. I remember him in the market town of Bati, Ethiopia, standing on top of a ruined building with the tripod before Ewan and I even realised he’d gone. That’s no reflection on anyone else - Mungo was terrific on the last trip - but this time I needed the experience Claudio brings just by us having worked together so often. And he’s a cult hero, of course, even if he isn’t aware of it.

I had spoken to Ewan a couple of days previously and he wished me luck with the trip. He’s based in LA at the moment so I’ve not seen so much of him lately, but we’re in touch and always talking about potential biking projects. He’s been a great friend and I never forget that if it wasn’t for him I probably wouldn’t be doing what I’m doing.

At around 10 a.m, with my nerves just about intact, we were on the bikes and riding through the streets of Sydney with the rain holding off and people waving as we passed. I really did have the butterflies now; I’d had them in England a year ago when we set off from Coventry and the same words rattled through my head. Let there be bikes, I thought. Please God, let there be bikes.

Bikes. My God, there were hundreds of them. It was Monday morning, with a bad weather forecast, and yet there must have been three or four hundred motorcyclists gathered at the Freshwater Reserve. I pulled into the car park and gave everyone a wave and a few people cheered. Moments later Claudio arrived with the camera rolling and, as he took his helmet off, a huge cheer went up. Instant recognition for the master of the little red bike; the man who’d survived the Road of Bones and Charley tailgating him in South Africa. Before he knew what was happening people were cramming around him, begging for his autograph.

I was delighted for him. Being the unassuming bloke he is, he was a little taken aback, but it brought home to me that it’s the camaraderie of what we do that people identify with. There had been three of us on the bikes for Long Way Round and Long Way Down, and without Claudio, Ewan and I would’ve been hopelessly lost.

It wasn’t just bikers there to see us off either; loads of people  had come down who weren’t on bikes at all. I had photos taken, I signed books and DVDs - I even had babies thrust into my arms. Claudio was trying to film but he found himself swamped by fans he didn’t know he had and spent most of the time signing jackets, fuel tanks, body parts and anything else someone had a pen for.

Wayne Gardner was there, of course: he only lives down the road and was riding a Honda Fireblade. Then there were the guys from Daly Waters and finally I was able to shake hands with Chris.

The introductions completed, we got back on the bikes - all threee hundred-odd of us - and rode north from Manly to Fraser Beach. It was one great swarm of motorbikes and as soon as I’d topped the rise and glimpsed them all gathered in the car park, my fears had evaporated. The nerves had been replaced by sheer excitement. There were so many of us it took twenty minutes to get everyone out of the car park. It was just fantastic, better than I could ever have hoped for. There was one guy riding beside me on a yellow bike whose left hand didn’t work and he had it pressed into his pocket. He had thumb brakes and the clutch had been switched to the right handlebar and he rode along popping second-gear wheelies.

The cops in Australia can be a bit of a pain in the arse, though. No offence, boys, but you were all over us! We had to stop completely at one point because the convoy wasn’t orderly enough for their liking (they wanted us in two neat lines all the way). As Wayne said later, the ride was fun, if a little slow.

We made it to the beach finally, an hour and a half’s ride north of Sydney. Claudio, who was riding pillion with a local guy called Matt, managed to get lost - they stopped for fuel and lost touch with the rest of the bikes and then they went the wrong way. They eventually showed up with Claudio on the back trying to appear professional and Matt looking especially sheepish.

‘No, we weren’t lost,’ Claudio insisted. ‘We were just checking out a little of Australia.’

No wonder the poor guy got lost; he was still exhausted from the flight and had spent the morning on the back of a motorbike trying to film me waffling away as I rode through the streets of Sydney. Olly and I lived in Sydney for a while back in our  twenties. We had a place in Five Ways, Paddington; Olly worked as a PA and a waitress while I was a barman as well as a labourer on the Harbour Bridge. They were great days with great memories and here I was again. For all my fears we had had the perfect start and when I spoke to Olly later I was full of enthusiasm about it all.

It did rain, though. It rained hard and it was dark when we got to Wingham, a small town close to Taree. It was only Dare and me now, with Robin filming from the back of Matt’s bike. Claudio had had it; eyes closing, he had curled up in the back of the support truck and fallen asleep.

 



 



The boys from Daly Waters met us at the pub. Steve and Chris, Jack and Terry and the other Chris, of course, whom I now got to speak to properly. He was an amazing guy, so breezy and cheerful - he put it down to the steroids. Seriously though, he told me that when I’d spoken to him on the phone he’d been anxious about finding a donor. Thankfully he did get the marrow that would keep him alive, from a thrity-eight-year-old woman in the UK. He was very grateful to her.

We stood outside the pub and drank beer. The first time I’d met these guys had been in that wonderful little blink-and-miss-it town of theirs between Darwin and Alice Springs. I’d been considering a ramshackle little shop with a helicopter buried in the roof when a bike pulled up and this older-looking bloke peered at me.

‘Charley,’ he said, ‘what’re you doing here? Loved the series, mate. Is Ewan with you?’

That was Steve McGrath and here we were almost a year later shooting the breeze again.

‘It’s great to see you guys,’ I said. ‘A nice little full circle story.’

‘Full circle’s good for me,’ Chris piped up. ‘It could’ve been a dead end.’

We fell about laughing.

‘I tell you,’ he went on, ‘when I got that call last year, I didn’t know what was going on. Chris said: “There’s someone wants to talk to you,” and then this little pommie voice comes on the line  and I thought, Is it some bloody backpacker they’ve picked up?’ He grinned broadly. ‘It was a moment, a real little boost, the kind you need when you’re where I was back then.’ He raised his glass and we drank. ‘I tell you, I’m just glad to be alive. Every day’s a gift, mate; every healthy day.’

 



 



We slept the night in the Australia Inn at Wingham. I was really tired but I’d read in the paper that there had been riots in Lae, Papua New Guinea, which was a little unnerving. We would be travelling through Lae, and I had to think, What is it about us and riots? Last time it had been football fans in Istanbul, then Russians invading Georgia and China closing the Tibetan border. Oh well, we’d see how it was when we got there. In the meantime it had been an exhilarating first day and all I wanted now was a shower, some food and some sleep.

It was still dark outside when the sound of rain rattling off tin roofs woke me. I went to the window and stared into the gloom. There were a few lights glowing here and there but the glass was pretty opaque and the balcony slick with rain. My heart sank. This morning I was riding with Dare and the last thing we needed was this kind of weather. It was a bummer, but it was all part of the adventure I suppose, and it’s not as if I can’t ride in the rain. Last year it seemed like every time we got on a motorbike it was pouring with bloody rain. There were still a couple of hours before we were due to leave and, ever the optimist, I thought it might clear up.

It didn’t. It was still coming down when we said goodbye to the guys from Daly Waters, who were riding south to Canberra. It had been great to meet Chris at last. He told me he owed a lot to the Leukaemia Foundation and planned to go to the UK so he could look up the woman who had donated the bone marrow that saved his life. He said that if he made it he’d give me a call, but between you and me, I think he really wanted to meet my wife. I’m a nice guy apparently, but Chris reckoned that was down to Olly . . .

Dare and I jumped back on the bikes and this time he rode the flat tracker while I was on the rat-style Triumph Thruxton he’d  been riding yesterday. It’s a café racer he put together and it has awesome power. I’d ridden it for a few miles last night and was really looking forward to a good day, even if the rain was bucketing down. I was wearing an open-face helmet though, and as we hit the highway the wind was rushing past my ears. Little did I know just how deaf I would be by the time we stopped again that evening.

Wingham was a nice place, if a little wet. It was incredibly green, with palms that were dripping water as we headed north. We were on good tarmac to begin with - two-lane blacktop - and the road was bordered by trees and fields, single-storey houses with red-tiled roofs dotted here and there. Then we hit some dirt, red cinder, which on the right bike would’ve been excellent, but on the rat-style I took it a little easy. After that it was tarmac again and seventy-odd clicks later we pulled into the driveway of Mark Johnson’s house in Wauchope, where a massive bull-nosed truck was waiting. It was gorgeous, a brilliant blue with chrome grille and bumper, twin chrome exhausts rising behind the doors. It reminded me of my favourite book when I was a kid. The book had no words, just pictures of a big Mack truck with pullout drawings of the engine and everything. I loved it.

But this wasn’t a Mack; it was a Diamond T1 that, until thirteen years ago, had been carrying cotton gins in Western Australia. Mark was a panel beater by trade, and came out to greet us wearing only a pair of shorts and bomber jacket against the rain. We shook hands and he told me the truck was owned by a friend of his and the two of them had spent a couple of years restoring it.

It was time to say goodbye to Dare and I was sad to see him go. He’s such a great guy and we’re like-minded. I tried to persuade him to join me and the family for a holiday when the trip was over. ‘I’ll see what I can do, Charley,’ he said. ‘But in the meantime thanks for letting me come along.’ He gestured to where Mark was already in the truck and pressing his fist to the horn. ‘You’d better go,’ he said. ‘Your chariot awaits.’

[image: 003]

As I climbed into the cab Mark looked sideways at me with a mischievous grin on his face, and we were pulling away before I’d even closed the door. He was in his late fifties, maybe early sixties, it was hard to tell. Short grey hair and a pair of wraparound shades that made him look a little menacing. He ground the gears as we turned out of his driveway.

‘How long since you drove this truck, Mark?’ I asked him.

He showed his teeth. ‘Thirteen years.’

The truck was the noisiest vehicle I think I’ve ever been in. We left Mark’s place in Wauchope and drove 100 kilometres up the coast with the two-stroke ringing in my ears. This was the 653 American edition, with the GM engine rather than one made in Australia under licence. The main difference is the twin air cleaners, like a pair of blue milk churns attached to the wings - apparently the air was inducted back through the body, whereas on the Aussie version it was through the bonnet. It was fabulous, but as I say, incredibly loud: a two-stroke diesel V6 with what they call a thirteen-spread ranger gearbox. It had been built in 1962 and was known as a ‘screamer’ - that scream really was unbelievable, even Mark thought so. I take my hat off to anyone who could have driven one of these trucks for a living.

Anyway, we were on the road heading north and having to shout across the cab to each other. Above the brain-numbing din I managed to work out that Mark ran a mobile paint shop and had sign-written many of the trucks that passed us on the highway. He was married to an English woman he met when he was travelling around Australia.

The way their trucks looked was always as important to Diamond T as how they functioned, and the chrome was everywhere - a sort of Harley Davidson of the commercial vehicle family. ‘Dad’s Pride’ was emblazoned on the front bumper of this one, the interior was pale studded upholstery, the gear knob a piston head and the steering wheel white with four spokes. I loved it, apart from the noise anyway. By the time we got to our next stop, Stan’s place in Macksville, I was deaf as a post.
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Stan was another Aussie good old boy. He was older than Mark, tall and lean and wearing a faded baseball cap. His great passion was trucks - big, old trucks - and he was going to give us a ride in an Oshkosh as far as Coffs Harbour.

I thought the Diamond T was big, but this thing was colossal. A bright yellow tow truck with a powder-coated towing rig - Stan told me it weighed thirteen tonnes. He had restored it after it went out of service. He was a member of the Heritage Vehicle Association and without people like him these old trucks would vanish from the roads altogether. His wife was equally involved. Stan said that she was getting used to the gears now and if he was away she would clean the Oshkosh in readiness for a show. There was one every year in Alice Springs and a really massive one every five years. Stan’s father had always been into trucks too. Back in the 1940s he drove for the forest service before buying a bus route and settling in Macksville. Over the years he had restored lots of vehicles and that was where Stan got the bug.

Oshkosh is a city in Wisconsin. The trucks all come from there - not just tow trucks like Stan’s, but army vehicles too. This was a left-hand drive that had been brought over and converted - Stan pointed out the shaft that ran under the dash from left to right. Oshkosh was an American Indian chief: the word means ‘claw’ and considering the massive power of this thing, that seemed apt somehow. Its GCM (Given Concentration Mass) was 120 tonnes, which means that it can pull anything up to 107 tonnes (as its own weight was the 13 tonnes Stan had mentioned). So it was strong enough to pull the massive road trains I’d driven the last time I was over here.

I was keen to drive it myself, so halfway to Coffs Harbour I suggested to Stan that we swap places.

‘You’ve got a truck licence, right?’ he asked as I slipped behind the wheel.

‘Oh yeah,’ I lied. ‘I drove an International S Line over at Coober Pedy.’

‘Great, away we go then.’

I ground the gears, that horrific screeching sound of synchromesh not meshing, and with a smile I squinted at him. ‘You know the old saying, Stan: if you can’t find it - grind it.’  Then we were off down the freeway with sweat rolling off my brow and my palms wringing wet.

‘Are you all right, mate?’ Stan asked. ‘Your hands are sweating.’

‘I’m fine.’

I was, actually. Even though it was huge, the truck wasn’t that hard to manoeuvre, although because of its age the steering felt a little vague and I found myself over-correcting. But it was great fun and immensely powerful and I loved being that high up, looking down on what appeared to be miniature cars trundling by. We were on the move. I’d been riding bikes, I was in my second truck and the juice Herbie Jefferson talked about was flowing.
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 Spitting Fire in the Rain
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LEAVING STAN SOUTH of the harbour, we carried on to the Coaching Station Inn at Nymboida. It was still wet outside but there was a fire in the grate and I could smell food being cooked. Feeling pretty exhausted, I slumped down at a table.

The only other guests seemed to be a young couple sitting across the way and I got talking to them. Joel and his wife Tatum had been married a year and were spending their first anniversary at Coffs Harbour. We spent the evening chatting and at one point Joel suggested we go for a swim in the river before breakfast. I wasn’t much up for it but I was looking for a lift in the morning so I agreed.

‘I’ll be there,’ I said. ‘I used to swim in the river that ran through my dad’s place in Ireland. Listen, Joel: I’ve got to meet a guy with an electric car at a petrol station tomorrow. It’s about twenty kilometres up the road. Is there any chance of you two giving me a lift?’

‘Sure,’ he said. ‘We could do that, yeah.’

 



 



I woke to the smell of eucalyptus, more rain and a grey mist that coated the hills. This was a beautiful spot, log-cabin-style rooms with great views across an evergreen valley with the river coursing through it. And I mean coursing: from where I was standing it looked pretty fast-flowing and pretty cold. Suddenly I was having second thoughts about this morning’s ‘refreshing’ dip. But Joel came by, and having made a commitment the night before, I followed him down to the shore. It was bloody freezing and the swim was brief to say the least, but we did manage to find a section where the rapids weren’t roaring. And for those of you who complained about the quality of my underpants the last time you saw me in a river, I had a proper pair of swimming shorts this time, all right?

The weather was really grim still: not cold but the rain  appeared to have set in. It was as if a great grey blanket had been thrown across this section of the Australian coast and there was no way out from under it. In a couple of days we were due to fly up the coast in a Spitfire and I really hoped the weather wouldn’t get in the way. I’d had a few flying lessons - I could take off and land - but a Spitfire . . . it reminded me of my dad’s film Hope and Glory, where I’d played a German pilot who crashed his plane. I did not want to miss out.

In the meantime the weather would do what weather does. Joel and Tatum gave me a ride in their Holden.

‘So what do you think about the idea of electric cars then?’ I asked Joel. ‘There’s a bit of a love affair with the V8 in this country, isn’t there?’

He looked sideways at me. ‘Take someone’s V8 off them and give them an electric car? Yeah, I’m not sure how well that would go down.’

 



 



The electric car was bright green and looked like a small Mazda. I’m not sure what I’d been expecting but I’d driven a fairly outlandish-looking solar-powered car the last time I was here, and this looked like a normal compact.

Turned out it was a normal compact, based on a Mazda but with a bunch of boxes and computers under the bonnet instead of a petrol or diesel engine. The car was called an evMe and had been built by Phil Coop and his company, Energetique. To all intents and purposes it looked and felt like any other car. There was an ignition key, though no gears as such: just a ‘Drive’ position and, of course, reverse. It easily coped with 130 kmph. I was amazed; it was so quiet, and after the trucks yesterday that was wonderful.

Phil is a committed and enthusiastic guy who isn’t trying to solve the environmental problems of the world, just do his bit. Not only is he involved with the car company; he also run a cattle farm where everything is sustainable and organic. The battery-powered car is his passion, however, and he explained that trying to develop something for everyday use was like trying to wade through treacle.

‘I’m not one for conspiracy theories,’ he said, ‘but even the smallest problem in this business becomes a major challenge. In the past it was politicians and fossil-fuel companies who would try to block us. More recently it’s been computer and technology companies. For example, just this last year we tried to buy a piece of important equipment from the States and were blocked completely.’ He shrugged his shoulders. ‘I can’t tell you why, maybe these people just don’t want us to move forward, but that bit of equipment suddenly became unavailable.’

He told us that things were changing, though. For years battery technology had lagged behind other areas in terms of what he called ‘the electrification of society’. Then with the development of nanotech batteries, they made a huge leap forward. The battery in the evMe would last ten years and even then it would still work at 80 per cent of its original capacity. The new breed that would be available in only a couple of years’ time would last fifty years and have other applications long after the life of the car was over. This little car ran for two hundred kilometres on one charge; the charge took only seven minutes and cost about three quid. It wasn’t the only solution for future clean fuelling, but it was certainly one of them.

I for one was impressed. The evMe was great to drive, it had good pick-up, lots of torque and it ate up the miles to Byron Bay. The car was simple and so quiet, and in many ways so much better than a normal version.

 



 



The evMe was a million miles away from the next car we’d be driving. Brendan’s clapped-out old Mitsubishi estate had been given to him by his mate Declan and it’s fair to say that it was significantly less environmentally friendly than Phil’s car. We met Brendan at the Arts Factory in Byron Bay, a cool town on the coast that has an American feel to it, with wide roads and diagonal parking, and palm trees that today were bent almost horizontal by the wind and rain. It really was kicking up a storm. We stopped at the beach and the waves were massive, rolling whitecaps. I’d been hoping to go surfing tomorrow but there was no chance of a novice like me venturing out in this. There was also an  ever-diminishing chance that we would be up in that plane. Sam phoned the Spitfire people and they told him the weather was just as bad in Brisbane and that as things stood there was only about a 40 per cent likelihood we’d be flying.

It was a bummer. Not only did it mean we’d miss out on an incredible experience, but it would add time to the journey and we’d have to find another way of moving up the coast.

As if to really piss us off, when we came through town the rain seemed to get even worse, the wipers working nineteen to the dozen and the road all but flooded. We made it to the Arts Factory, and ducked inside to keep dry. This was the backpackers’ hostel where we would be spending the night. It’s very famous and one of the most used in Australia, with over three hundred and fifty beds. There are loads of little rooms called cubes, and there is also a tented village, as well as a number of different-sized communal tepees.

The manager, Peggy, greeted us. She came hobbling round from behind the counter on a pair of crutches, her right leg plastered to the knee.

‘So what happened to you?’ I asked her.

‘Too many tequila slammers: stiletto slipped on the table and off I went.’

‘You broke your foot dancing on a table?’

‘Yeah.’

‘Oh well, I suppose if you’re going to do it at all, that’s got to be the way.’

Peggy showed us to a large tepee that looked like a hospital dormitory inside, with six or seven metal-framed beds lining the walls. I could hear rain on the canvas and thought it would be a pretty cool place to spend the night, just so long as it didn’t leak.

‘Look, Peggy,’ I said. ‘Tomorrow we have to get up to Brisbane where we’re supposed to be hitching a ride in a Spitfire. I know it’s a couple of hundred kilometres but do you reckon there’s anyone here who might give us a lift?’

‘I’m sure there is,’ she told me. ‘Ask around, Charley. Word of mouth is the way here. Just ask around.’

Claudio and I went off to do just that and about thirty seconds later we bumped into Brendan, a tall, barefoot English guy with  a few days’ stubble on his chin, wearing a baseball hat with the peak hugging the back of his neck.

‘Sure, I can take you,’ he told us. Then he showed us his Mitsubishi. ‘What do you think? She’s got a little more character than the car you arrived in, hasn’t she?’ He nodded to the bright green evMe. ‘But you might have to push.’ He paused, then added with a grin, ‘I’m joking. We’ll be fine if we park on a hill.’

Brendan’s Irish mate Declan had given him the car just a couple of weeks ago. He told us it was like that at the Factory: people moved on and left things behind for other people, and Declan had left his car. Brendan had come to the hostel for a couple of days, and ended up staying for three and a half months. He lived in a tent, the flysheet reinforced with a blue plastic tarp to help keep the rain out. In fact, the whole of the tented village was a mass of blue tarps - it was reminiscent of some South American shanty town seen through the murk of the day.

Peggy told us that Brendan staying for as long as he had was not unusual, it was that kind of place. The Jungle Hut personified the spirit of the Factory - a sort of tented bar/recreation area packed with people drinking, playing music and sorting through belongings that had been left by other backpackers. I reckoned the average age was about nineteen and it made me feel like some old granddad or something at forty-two. When I was younger I’d not really been into the backpacking scene, but here there was a real community feel and I could see the attraction. We had a good night, drinking a few beers and listening to music, playing a bit of table tennis and praying the weather would change.

Later on, Peggy came by to tell us it wasn’t safe to sleep in the tepee after all. There was a severe weather warning and when it rained as hard as this the water dribbled onto the electrics. It was a pity because I had been looking forward to it, but there was no choice so we opted for cubes instead: a room each with wooden walls that shook a little when you leaned on them. Peggy reckoned the weather would keep us at Byron Bay for tomorrow at least, though we would not be surfing. That was all right; we had a day’s grace if we needed it and things might be brighter come Friday. I really wanted to be on that plane, though. I mean, a Spitfire is always iconic, even if it is a replica built in Brisbane.  But an hour or so later my hopes seemed to be dashed completely, when a slightly drunk-looking girl with wild hair told us the road to Brisbane was flooded.

The storm that night was as bad as any I’ve experienced. It poured with rain and the wind howled and in the morning we discovered that some of the backpackers had been flooded out completely. There didn’t look to be any let-up in the rain either, but overnight I had decided I really wanted to try to make it to the Spitfire place. Sam phoned them early to see what the situation was and they told him the weather up there was getting better, though they had had to dig trenches around their hangar to stop it flooding. They could not afford to get any moisture into the alloy they used for the aircraft because it would corrode. If anything got even the slightest bit damp they had no choice but to dump it.

It was much better news than we’d hoped for and after all the stories of disaster we’d heard last night, I had a sneaking feeling this was going to come off. Down here the rain was still torrential, mind you, and although it was warm enough for shorts and flip flops, when we left the Arts Factory in Brendan’s Mitsubishi we had the headlights on. The car was called the Millennium Pigeon. Brendan’s mate Declan had driven up from Melbourne with a whole bunch of people, one of whom was a dead ringer for Han Solo apparently. According to Brendan, Declan had enough body hair to resemble Chewbacca, so you can see how the car got its name.

The weather was foul, every bit as bad as yesterday, and Brendan told us his tent had all but washed away. He was pretty relaxed about it though, just one of life’s little hazards. He was that kind of guy, good company, and for a couple of hundred kilometres we chatted away like old friends. He told me he had been travelling for a year or so, making his way through South America before coming to Australia. He was a photographer and had left college about six years ago, and then worked as an art director for a firm that made wood-burning stoves. He loved the job but one day he just decided to quit. He left the house he was renting and bought an old caravan on a strip of land outside Exeter in Devon. Looking for a simpler existence, he worked at  various jobs, saved his money, then bought a plane ticket and eventually ended up here. He was doing his thing and I admired him for it.

The closer we got to Brisbane, the better the weather became. When I finally spotted blue sky I was yelping with excitement. South of Brisbane we had to divert because the road disappeared into a flood plain that extended as far as the eye could see. The water level was gradually going down but it had been a metre deep at one point and the only vehicles getting through were big trucks and jacked-up utes. Brendan was great: he hadn’t planned to go to Brisbane that day, but he took us all the way to the hangar. We had to detour a few times because of the flooding, before eventually turning into a country lane that led beyond some soggy-looking mobile homes to the Supermarine Aircraft Company at Moggill.

‘Brendan,’ I said. ‘Thank you so much, you’ve been terrific.’

‘No worries. If you see me by the side of the road with my thumb out you’ll stop, right?’

‘No,’ I said, ‘we’ll drive right past you.’

 



 



The hangar was open and I could see a Spitfire with a kangaroo wearing a pair of boxing gloves painted on the fuselage. Oh my God, I was tingling. I know it sounds obvious, but it really did look like a proper Spitfire. The sun was out and there was no wind - with any luck tomorrow I would be flying up the coast to Maryborough.

A guy in his late twenties was sitting at a desk in the back office with some blueprints spread before him. This was Clint, the bloke we’d been speaking to on the phone. He worked for the owner of the company, Mike O’Sullivan, who had been making these planes for the last nine years now.

‘Clint,’ I said pointing to the plane and stating the obvious again, ‘it looks like a Spitfire.’

‘It does, doesn’t it?’ We shook hands. ‘That’s the Mark 26B, Charley, ninety per cent of the original.’

‘You mean in size?’

‘That’s right, yeah, ninety per cent of the original size. We  started with a Mark 25, which was only seventy per cent and a single-seater, but a lot of the customers wanted to take someone up with them, so we made it bigger to accommodate a passenger.’

I took a closer look at where I would be perched in the morning, a tiny little seat behind the pilot; barely enough room to squat. I could feel a rush of nervous excitement: a replica of a Second World War icon, the plane that stopped Hitler. I slid my hand across the surface of the wing, almost stroking it. ‘How long did it take to build?’ I asked him.

‘This one, eight months from when Mike walked out of the office with the spec until it was in the air. When he came down from the maiden flight he reckoned it was as good as it got and we’ve not touched the design since.’

Clint explained that the company supplies these aircraft in kits; they include the complete fuselage, the wings, the undercarriage and everything bar the propeller, paint and instrumentation. They ship the kits to enthusiasts all over the world who assemble them like giant Meccano sets. Everything is prefabricated, right down to the rivet holes and the nuts and bolts. It’s packed in a massive wooden crate then sent to the customer along with the engine. There are three engines you can choose from: a pair of Isuzu V6s, one normally aspirated and the other supercharged, or if you want a 450 bhp V8.

Clint showed me a second-generation Griffin engine that was used in the Spitfires in the latter part of the war. Built by Rolls Royce, it was an enormous 37-litre V12 with a supercharger that produced 2000 bhp. Of course, with all the armaments the original plane was much heavier than the one I would be in, and the Isuzu V8 produced the same amount of power. They had an engine ready for testing now and Clint told me I could start it up.

‘The birth of an engine,’ I said. ‘I can’t believe I’m here at the birth of a Spitfire engine.’

God knows what it weighed but it was sitting well off the ground on a special jig. The propeller was in place and the engine linked to a switchboard and laptop. Clint handed me a set of ear plugs. ‘There you go, Charley,’ he said, ‘you’ll need those.’ I checked that the circuit breakers were in place, flicked  four switches, gave it a little throttle and hit the starter. The engine grunted and groaned for a few moments, just about turning over.

‘OK,’ Clint said, ‘at least we know the test battery is flat.’

With another battery fitted, I made sure the prop was clear and tried again. This time it fired, and as the engine coughed into life the gust of wind from the propeller was so fierce it tore at the roots of my hair.

‘It will tick over around 800 rpm,’ Clint yelled above the noise. ‘Maximum revs about 5000; you need 4800 for take-off.’

The company checks everything on the engine before it goes out: the timing, oil pressure, water pressure, temperature, etc. Once they are satisfied, the ECU is locked in and that is it. According to Clint, you don’t need to touch it again.

‘Wow,’ I said when I’d switched the motor off. ‘And I thought I had a good job.’

It was late afternoon now and we had another hundred kilometres to go to get to Cressbrook, north of Brisbane, and Watts Bridge airfield. I was sleeping in the hangar tonight because, if all went to plan, we had a big day tomorrow and would be away early.

Jumping into Clint’s ute we drove north. By the time we got to the airfield it was gloomy, the sun going down and a rainbow in the sky. We picked our way across the field to another hangar, where light spilled onto the grass and a second Spitfire was sitting grinning at anyone who walked by. And I mean literally: the paint job was a shark’s mouth complete with lots of white teeth. Clint pointed out a guy in his forties sitting in the cockpit, checking the instruments. This was Bruce, another of Mike O’Sullivan’s crew. He’d painted the shark’s mouth. This plane took my breath away. The teeth around the fuselage were complemented by zebra stripes on the wings and it looked every bit the Second World War fighter.

‘It’s wonderful that you’re still making them,’ I told Bruce. ‘It keeps the whole spirit of the Spitfire alive.’

Climbing into the cockpit was no mean feat. It was pretty cramped and all I could see from the pilot’s seat were the tips of the prop at the end of the nose that lifted at quite an angle. I  wondered how the hell the pilot saw to take off . . . but maybe it was best not to dwell on that too much.

The fuselage was what I would call up close and personal, barely any elbow room, and when the canopy was closed it really felt like I was in a fighter. The joystick was an original, complete with the central firing mechanism and its three-position trigger. The top part was for machine guns, the bottom for cannon, and if you wanted them both you pressed the middle. The recoil on that would stop the plane in the air.

‘Jesus,’ I muttered, ‘that’s incredible.’

‘All they had was eight seconds of machine-gun time,’ Bruce told me. ‘Eight seconds and the ammo was out. What they’d do is get within three hundred yards of the German planes and zutzut’ - he made a firing sound - ‘just a little burst. Hold it for the full eight seconds and you’d be out completely.’

I looked sideways at him. ‘That’s not how it is in the films, Bruce.’

‘Right.’

We went into Cressbrook for some food and Claudio and I took a moment to get some air. It was calm now, almost balmy and a really nice temperature. The town was pretty old and I loved the layout of the streets. The pavements were made of wood with the balconies from the upper floors extending right across to the kerb: it created a wonderful ambience.

‘How’re you feeling?’ Claudio asked me.

‘I’m a bit nervous actually. I think we’re going to do some barrel rolls and loop-the-loops, so I’d better take a plastic bag with me. I did this once before, Clouds, years ago in Africa when I was making a film. I went up in an American trainer plane and when I came down my face was just ashen.’

After dinner we went back to the airfield where Rick, the guy who would be piloting tomorrow, had arrived on his BMW.

‘There are so many pilots who ride, Rick,’ I said, shaking hands. ‘But then I guess it’s the same juice.’

‘I want you to teach me to wheelie,’ he laughed. ‘That’s why I rode down.’

He was maybe sixty-five (he told me that only that week he had received his senior citizen’s card) and British, a gentle guy who immediately put me at ease and told me that tomorrow we  wouldn’t do anything that my body would not take. ‘I’m afraid there’s no stick in the back,’ he said, ‘so I’ll have to do all the flying. Unless of course you want me to sit in the back.’

‘Well, I have done eight hours . . .’

 



 



Rick tests the planes for Supermarine. He’s flown these Spitfires in England and at shows in America, and he said that even the Americans acknowledge that the Supermarine kit is one of the best in the world.

‘Sometimes the customers are a little nervous about flying for the first time,’ he said, ‘especially when they’ve put the kit together themselves. If they ask then I’ll go over and sit in the back. They’re easy enough to fly though, soft and gentle planes really. They can be a bit of a bugger to land, mind you, because of the length of the nose.’

‘How long have you been flying them?’ I asked, trying not to think of that last comment.

‘Since Mike started building them. He asked me to test the original Mark 25 and I’ve been there for the Mark 26A and B. This one’, he said, waving at old sharky, ‘is superb. It’s the biggest and fastest Mike has built. It climbs at 3500 feet a minute, and when you consider the weight difference, the 450 brake horse power is equivalent to the output they had from the old Griffins during the war. It’s quick, Charley, a real hot one.’

Rick had joined the RAF when he was seventeen. He flew fighters until 1981, then left the RAF, moved out here and joined the Australian Air Force. He flew Mirages and when he retired he slowed down a little and became a balloon pilot. He lived locally and Mike O’Sullivan had heard about him, so he asked if he would test the Mark 25.

Rick is a grandfather and his son and three grandsons have their own manufacturing business that supplies over seventy different parts for the Spitfire. I liked him a lot: he had that pilot’s confidence, the kind of ease I’d seen in Ewan’s brother Colin, who flew Tornados in the Gulf.

Rick said he would happily fly me up the coast as far as Maryborough, where we could skim the beaches at five hundred  feet, and he would put down at an airfield, from where we could be on our way. A little later I laid out my sleeping bag. As it was getting chilly now, I decided to sleep in my clothes. The others settled down and as the lights went out, I lay for a moment thinking about the next day. I couldn’t quite believe I was lying in a moonlit hangar north of Brisbane, gazing at the silhouette of a Spitfire.
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Lunch at Loco Lobo
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I THINK RICK WAS a little bit disappointed in me. I mean, there I was, a veteran of the Dakar and all those expeditions, and within twenty minutes of being in the air I was all but throwing up.

We woke to thick fog but he was confident it would clear, and so it did, although it took a little longer than he thought. Sam had gone ahead to Maryborough to make sure we had seats on the Tilt Train that ran from Brisbane to Cairns - the next leg of our journey. We were going as far as Rockhampton and, assuming we were on time for the train, we would cover some serious ground today.

We ate breakfast cooked on a barbecue in the hangar then pushed the Spitfire outside.

The fog hung around for another hour or so but finally it cleared and I was in the back of the plane, cramped and sweating, an old-style helmet on my head and the fuselage almost like a cage around me. I only realised just how small it was when Rick got in too, and I was hunched behind him with my elbows at my sides and my hands between my knees.

It was fantastic, though. This was a replica of the most historic fighter in British aviation history and I was about to fly up the coast. When my dad was making Hope and Glory, I remember reading about the Battle of Britain pilots, how they had been quite happy to get on with the job once they were in the planes; it was the waiting around for the call to scramble that set their nerves jangling.
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